Provided for non-commercial research and education use. Not for reproduction, distribution or commercial use.



This article appeared in a journal published by Elsevier. The attached copy is furnished to the author for internal non-commercial research and education use, including for instruction at the authors institution and sharing with colleagues.

Other uses, including reproduction and distribution, or selling or licensing copies, or posting to personal, institutional or third party websites are prohibited.

In most cases authors are permitted to post their version of the article (e.g. in Word or Tex form) to their personal website or institutional repository. Authors requiring further information regarding Elsevier's archiving and manuscript policies are encouraged to visit:

http://www.elsevier.com/copyright

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 33 (2009) 1157-1167

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Review

Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/neubiorev

Top-down modulation of prepulse inhibition of the startle reflex in humans and rats

Liang Li*, Yi Du, Nanxin Li, Xihong Wu, Yanhong Wu

Department of Psychology, Speech and Hearing Research Center, Key Laboratory on Machine Perception (Ministry of Education), Peking University, Beijing 100871, China

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Prepulse inhibition Attentional modulation Auditory fear conditioning Schizophrenia Animal model Amygdala Inferior colliculus

ABSTRACT

Prepulse inhibition (PPI) is the attenuation of the startle reflex when the sudden intense startling stimulus is shortly preceded by a weaker, non-startling sensory stimulus (prepulse). PPI reflects a protective function of reducing disruptive influences to the processing of prepulse signals and is recognized as a model of sensorimotor gating. In humans, PPI is modulated by both attentional and emotional responses to prepulse, indicating that this early-stage gating is top-down modulated by higher-order cognitive processes. Recent studies have confirmed top-down modulation of PPI in animals, because PPI in rats is enhanced by auditory fear conditioning and perceived separation between fear-conditioned prepulse and masker. This review summarizes recent studies of top-down modulation of PPI in patients with schizophrenia are impaired, and both baseline PPI and conditional modulation of PPI in rats with isolation rearing are impaired, this review emphasizes that investigation of top-down modulation of PPI is critical for establishing new animal models for studying both cognitive features and neural bases of schizophrenia. Deficits in either baseline PPI or attentional modulation of PPI in either patients with attention-deficit/ hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) or ADHD-modeling rats are also discussed.

© 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	The startle reflex	1157
	1.1. Circuitry, summation, and function	1157
	1.2. Various modulation types	1158
2.	Prepulse inhibition: a model of sensorimotor gating	1158
3.	Neural circuitry mediating PPI	
4.	Attentional modulation of PPI in humans	1159
5.	fMRI studies of brain structures modulating PPI in humans	1160
6.	Fear conditioning modulates PPI in laboratory rats	1160
7.	Perceived spatial separation between prepulse and masking noise enhances PPI	1161
8.	Mechanisms underlying conditional enhancement of PPI in laboratory rats	1162
9.	PPI-modulation deficits in schizophrenic patients and ADHD patients	1163
10.	New animal models for studying schizophrenia	1163
11.	Animal PPI models for studying ADHD	1164
12.	Conclusions and future directions	1164
	Acknowledgements	1164
	References	1164

1. The startle reflex

1.1. Circuitry, summation, and function

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +86 10 6278 5419; fax: +86 10 6276 1081. *E-mail address:* liangli@pku.edu.cn (L. Li).

0149-7634/\$ – see front matter © 2009 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.02.001

The startle reflex is the strongest whole-body reflexive response (Landis and Hunt, 1939), which can be easily elicited by sudden

and intense sensory stimuli with several typical features, such as short latency, intra- and inter-modal summation, and wide dynamic ranges (e.g., Li and Frost, 1996; Li and Yeomans, 1999; Li et al., 2001).

The neural circuitry mediating startle is short. The key structure in the circuitry is the caudal pontine reticular nucleus (PnC), in which giant neurons receive axonal projections from the cochlear nucleus, trigeminal nucleus, and vestibular nucleus, and send projections to motor areas of cranial nerve nuclei (e.g., motor neurons in facial nerve nucleus) and the spinal cord (for reviews see Davis, 1984; Koch and Schnitzler, 1997; Yeomans et al., 2002). The startle reflex is the fast response to threatening stimuli and important for adaptation to the environment. The startle circuitry is able to integrate cross-modal information and facilitate the startle amplitude (Li and Yeomans, 1999; Li et al., 2001). Typically, since a head blow activates auditory, trigeminal, and vestibular systems about the same time and elicits the startle reflex with a large amplitude, the defensive pattern of the startle performance must have a critical function of protecting against head blows (Yeomans et al., 2002). However, the startle reflex also has disruptive effects on cognitive/behavioral performances. For example, the acoustic startle reflex can disrupt perception/motor tasks in humans (Foss et al., 1989a,b) and learned lever-pressing behaviors in rats (Hoffman and Overman, 1971).

1.2. Various modulation types

Accordingly, the central nervous system contains well-developed neural circuits for regulating startle responses. For example, electrical stimulation of each of the following three brain structures has different effects on the acoustic startle reflex in awake rats: the amygdala, ventral pallidum, and inferior colliculus (IC) (Li et al., 1999)(Fig. 1). The magnitude of the startle reflex can be enhanced by fear (Bradley et al., 1993, 2006; Grillon and Davis, 1997; Greenwald et al., 1998; Stanley and Knight, 2004; Vanman et al., 1996; Volz et al., 2003; Waters et al., 2005), and the amygdala plays a critical role in the fear potentiation of startle (Hitchcock and Davis, 1987). Thus electrical stimulation of the amygdala enhances the acoustic startle, mimicking fear potentiation of startle (the curve with open



Fig. 1. Effects of electrical stimulation of one of the following brain structures on acoustic startle responses to a startling noise burst at various inter-stimulus intervals: bilateral amygdala (open circles), bilateral ventral pallidum (filled circles), and unilateral inferior colliculus (triangles). The mean normalized response to the startling noise burst alone is indicated by the broken line. This figure was adapted from Li et al. (1999).

circles in Fig. 1). The ventral pallidum, a basal forebrain structure, occupies a position as an interface between the limbic system and the motor system and is involved in both the initiation of motor activity (e.g., Austin and Kalivas, 1991) and the induction of intracranial self-stimulation performance (e.g., Panagis et al., 1997). Mogenson et al. (1980) suggested that the ventral pallidum mediates the flow of motivationally relevant information to motor systems, and regulates the feedback of this mediation. Thus the startle inhibition caused by electrical stimulation of the ventral pallidum (the curve with filled circles in Fig. 1) reflects the motive-motor gating process. The IC is an auditory midbrain structure occupying a critical position in the auditory ascending system. It is also a relay station in the pathway mediating sensorimotor gating (for a review see Li and Yue, 2002). The startle inhibition caused by electrical stimulation of the IC (the curve with open triangles in Fig. 1) exhibits a sensorimotor gating effect.

2. Prepulse inhibition: a model of sensorimotor gating

Prepulse inhibition (PPI) is the normal reduction of the amplitude of the startle reflex in response to an intense startling stimulus (pulse) when this intense stimulus is shortly preceded by a weaker, non-startling sensory stimulus (prepulse) (Buckland et al., 1969; Hoffman and Searle, 1965; Ison and Hammond, 1971; Pickney, 1976; for a classic review see Hoffman and Ison, 1980). Graham (1975) proposed a "protection-of-processing" theory for justifying the function of PPI: a weak prepulse stimulus followed by an intense stimulus can trigger not only the information processing for the prepulse signal but also a gating mechanism that dampens the information of the intense disruptive inputs. Therefore PPI protects the early processing of the prepulse signal from interference by extraneous stimuli. Since the consequences of PPI include the reduction of behavioral responses to disruptive stimuli by regulating the motor system and/or the pre-motor system, PPI has been generally recognized as a simple operational measure of sensorimotor gating (e.g., Swerdlow et al., 1991).

The protecting or facilitating effects of PPI on central processing of the prepulse signal have been experimentally demonstrated in humans. For example, presentation of a weak acoustic stimulus 100 ms prior to a startle-eliciting stimulus significantly reduces startle-produced errors in an aiming task (Foss et al., 1989a,b), and the accuracy of discriminating the prepulse stimulus is highly correlated to the degree of suppression of the startle reflex (Norris and Blumenthal, 1996; Perlstein et al., 1993). However, to our knowledge, there is a lack of the literature on whether PPI also plays a role in protecting/facilitating the central processing of prepulse signals in laboratory animals.

3. Neural circuitry mediating PPI

PPI can be observed in laboratory rats with either acutely surgical decerebration (Davis and Gendelman, 1977; Fox, 1979; Li and Frost, 2000) or chemically suppressed cortex (Ison et al., 1991) and in humans during sleep (Silverstein et al., 1980), indicating that the basic neural circuitry for mediating PPI must reside in the brainstem and PPI primarily reflects an automatic process at the pre-attentive stage. Animal studies have shown that one of the anatomical models for explaining the circuitry mediating auditory PPI includes the serially connected three midbrain structures: the IC (Leitner and Cohen, 1985; Li et al., 1998a,b), deeper layers of the superior colliculus (DpSC) and the intermediate layers of the superior colliculus (Fendt, 1999; Fendt et al., 1994; Li and Yeomans, 2000; Yeomans et al., 2006), and the pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus (PPTg) (Koch et al., 1993; Kodsi and Swerdlow, 1997; Swerdlow and Geyer, 1993) (Fig. 2). The IC sends vast axonal projections to the DpSC from the dorsomedial region, the external

L. Li et al. / Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 33 (2009) 1157-1167



Fig. 2. Neural pathways mediating (1) startle responses (thick black arrows), (2) auditory prepulse inhibition (thin black arrows), and (3) modulation of prepulse inhibition (thick unfilled arrows). The caudal pontine reticular nucleus receives axonal projections from the cochlear nucleus, trigeminal nucleus, and vestibular nucleus, and sends projections to motor neurons in cranial nerve nuclei and the spinal cord. The inferior colliculus receives projection from the lower auditory brainstem and sends projections to the deep/intermediate layers of the superior colliculus, which in turn, project to the pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus (PPTg). The PPTg modulates neural activity in the caudal pontine reticular nucleus both by direct projections and via the relay of substantia nigra. Three forebrain structures have been reported to have direct projections to the prepulse inhibition circuitry: lateral globus pallidus, amygdala, and auditory cortex.

nucleus, and the nucleus of the brachium of the IC, the DpSC in turn project to the PPTg, and finally the PPTg affects the PnC (the obligatory relay station in the primary startle pathway for integrating prepulse and startling signals) both directly by direct projections and indirectly via the relay of substantia nigra (for reviews see Fendt et al., 2001; Li and Yue, 2002). However, recent studies have also suggested that some components in the circuitry mediating PPI bypass the DpSC (Yeomans et al., 2006) or even the PPTg and PnC (Gomez-Nieto et al., 2008). Thus there may be multiple pathways for mediating PPI.

Although the primary circuitry mediating PPI is located in the brainstem, numerous studies using human participants or rats have confirmed that PPI can be modulated by higher-order cognitive processes (e.g., attentional modulation and conditional modulation, see below). Thus the circuitry mediating PPI must receive top-down regulations via descending axonal projections from forebrain structures. In rodents, it has been reported that the IC, DpSC, and PPTg receive direct axonal projections from the auditory cortex (Herbert et al., 1991), amygdala (Meloni and Davis, 2007), and lateral globus pallidus (Takahashi et al., 2007), respectively (Fig. 2).

4. Attentional modulation of PPI in humans

In humans, PPI is usually measured as a change in the eyeblink reflex which is one of the components of the startle reflex. Sufficient evidence confirms that directing attention to the prepulse signal enhances PPI (e.g., Ashare et al., 2007; Bohmelt et al., 1999; Cornwell et al., 2008; Dawson et al., 1993, 2000; Elden and Flaten, 2002, 2003; Filion et al., 1993; Filion and Poje, 2003; Hawk et al., 2002; Hazlett et al., 1998; Heekeren et al., 2004; Hutchison et al., 2003; Jennings et al., 1996; Schell et al., 2000; Thorne et al., 2005). In the "attention-to-prepulse" paradigm (task-

based protocol), the prepulse stimuli are a series of intermixed high- and low-pitch tones of short and long durations, and participants are instructed to attend to tones of one pitch and to ignore tones of the other pitch by, for example, counting silently the number of longer-duration higher (or lower) -pitch tones and simply ignoring the other pitch (Filion et al., 1993). Filion et al. demonstrated that human participants who attended the prepulse exhibited larger PPI at the prepulse lead time (inter-stimulus interval, ISI, the onset interval between the prepulse and startling stimulus) of 120 ms compared to participants who ignored the prepulse. The attentional modulation effect on PPI has been demonstrated for the prepulse lead time of 120 ms but not for that of 60 or 240 ms (e.g., Ashare et al., 2007; Bohmelt et al., 1999; Filion et al., 1993; Hawk et al., 2002; Jennings et al., 1996; Schell et al., 2000). Dawson et al. (1993) suggested that pre-attentive stimulus detection and evaluation occur at the prepulse lead time of about 60 ms, stimulus discrimination and further attentional allocation occur at the lead time of about 120 ms, and transition from stimulus evaluation to judgment occurs at the lead time of about 240 ms. However, Filion and Poje (2003) reported that even at the ISI of 60 ms PPI in task-based protocol (when the prepulse was attended or ignored) was larger than that in passive, no-task protocol. They suggested that PPI at the ISI of 60 ms in task-based protocol is a sign of sensorimotor gating enhanced by the initial nonselective allocation of attention to both attended and ignored prepulses. Moreover, Heekeren et al. (2004) reported that when participants directed their attention to both the prepulse and the startling pulse, an increased PPI occurred at the ISI of 240 ms but not the shorter ISI of 100 ms. Thus, attention to a prepulse has not only a typical time-locked modulatory influence to PPI but also complicated underlying mechanisms.

PPI in humans can also be enhanced if the prepulse stimulus becomes affective. For example, Bradley et al. (2006) have shown

that eyeblink startle responses to a white-noise burst (103 dB, 50 ms in duration) can be markedly inhibited by the presentation of a picture as the prepulse when the onset delay between the visual stimulus and the startling stimulus is 300 ms. Interestingly, the startle inhibition is affected by the content of the picture: either pleasant or unpleasant pictures cause larger inhibition than neutral pictures. Moreover, even anticipation of electrical shock can increase general vigilance, enhance processing of the prepulse stimulus, and augment PPI (Grillon and Davis, 1997). These reports suggest that affective stimuli draw more attentional resources than neutral stimuli and produce greater PPI. Clearly, the whole PPI profile is not solely an automatic process, instead, it has both low-level involuntary (automatic) and high-level-controlled components (e.g., Dawson et al., 1993; Elden and Flaten, 2002).

5. fMRI studies of brain structures modulating PPI in humans

Animal studies have suggested that PPI is modulated by the cortico-striatal-pallido-thalamic circuitry that includes the prefrontal cortex, thalamus, amygdala, hippocampus, nucleus accumbens, striatum, ventral pallidum, and globus pallidum (for a review see Swerdlow et al., 2001). Recently, functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies in humans appear to confirm the involvement of some of these brain structures in PPI (e.g., Campbell et al., 2007; Goldman et al., 2006; Hazlett et al., 2001; Kumari et al., 2007). However, both methods and results noticeably differ across these brain-imaging studies.

In the Kumari et al. study (2007), compared to the condition of startling pulse alone, the condition with the prepulse at the lead time of 120 ms caused increased blood-oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) in globus pallidus, putamen, caudate, thalamus, insular inferior frontal cortex, temporal cortex, inferior parietal cortex, and hippocampus. In the Goldman et al. study (2006), compared to the condition with startling pulse alone, the amplitude of the hemodynamic response function for the condition with the prepulse (lead time = 120 ms) was found to be increased in the auditory cortices and anterior insula, while decreased in the cerebellum, thalamus and anterior cingulate cortex. It should be noted that the comparison of the BOLD between the "prepulse + pulse" condition causing PPI with the "startling pulse alone" condition may reflect the neural activation that is associated with either the central representation of the prepulse or a difference in stimulus energy.

The comparison of the BOLD between the "prepulse + pulse" condition causing PPI with the "prepulse + pulse" condition not causing PPI appears to be more appropriate for revealing the biological correlates of PPI (Campbell et al., 2007). Campbell et al. reported that compared to the condition of the prepulse lead time of 480 ms (which did not cause significant startle inhibition), with the condition of the prepulse lead time of 120 ms led to a BOLD increase in the left middle frontal, right superior frontal and right precentral gyri. Hazlett et al. (2001) introduced an attention-to-prepulse paradigm in their fMRI study and reported that in the anterior and mediodorsal nuclei of the thalamus, the BOLD activation was greater under the "attended tone + startle noise" condition than that under the "ignored tone + startle noise" condition, suggesting a thalamic involvement in attentional modulation of PPI.

When both the prepulse and startling pulse are presented with a short interval, it is still not clear whether the fMRI method is sufficiently reliable to separate the hemodynamic representation of sensory gating (elicited by the prepulse and/or the startling pulse) from that of sensory processing (elicited by the prepulse and/or the startling pulse), particularly when the duration of the prepulse is several seconds as used in some fMRI studies. Based on the "protection-of-processing" theory proposed by Graham (1975), comparisons of prepulse-induced changes in the central consequence of the startling pulse across conditions should be primarily investigated, because the extent of suppression of the central consequence of the startling pulse is closely correlated with the degree of prepulse-induced gating of the startling stimulus. On the other hand, the startling stimulus itself also elicits central gating activities. When the stimulus-duration effect is controlled, due to its higher sound level, the startling pulse itself must elicit sensory gating with a different extent compared to the weaker prepulse. Thus the discrimination of the prepulse-induced gating correlates from the pulse-induced gating correlates must be under serious consideration in fMRI studies.

6. Fear conditioning modulates PPI in laboratory rats

In humans, emotional prepulse stimuli can elicit larger PPI than emotionally neutral prepulse stimuli (Bradley et al., 2006). Particularly, Cornwell et al. (2008) reported that in humans when a prepulse (air puff or pure-tone burst) occurred under conditions associated with relatively predictable timing of shock delivery, PPI was significantly higher than when the prepulse was associated with either more unpredictable timing of shock delivery or safe conditions without shock delivery. Thus it is important to know whether fear conditioning of a prepulse is able to modulate PPI in laboratory rats.

Recent studies conducted in our laboratory have shown that PPI can be enhanced in normal (socially reared) rats by auditory fear conditioning (AFC), which is induced by precisely pairing the prepulse stimulus with footshock (Du et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2007; Li et al., 2008; Zou et al., 2007). One type of prepulse stimulus used for this line of studies is the silent gap embedded in otherwise continuous noise sound, which is delivered by each of the two spatially separated loudspeakers. It is well known that the temporal resolution of the auditory system is the ability to discriminate rapid changes in the envelope of a sound, and a common way of investigating temporal resolution in both humans and animals is the measurement of the threshold of detecting a gap embedded in an otherwise continuous sound. The gap-detection ability is determined in part by the rate of decay of neural activity during the gap and in part by sensitivity to the signal increment at the end of the gap (Plomp, 1964). Thus, compared to the detection of a sound burst, the detection of a gap involves more perceptual and/or cognitive components. The gap has been successfully used as a prepulse in the PPI paradigm (Barsz et al., 1998, 2002; Ison et al., 1998; Ison and Bowen, 2000; Leitner and Girten, 1997). Unlike a sound-burst prepulse whose salience depends on the sound level of the prepulse (Li et al., 1998a), a gap prepulse can inhibit the startle reflex with different extents by varying the gap size without changing the sound level of the markers (or called carriers, the sounds before and after the gap). Generally, with increasing the size of a gap embedded in noise markers from 0 to 40 ms, the inhibitory effect of the gap prepulse on the acoustic startle reflex increases monotonically in rats (Zou et al., 2007). Following temporally combining a gap with footshock in a precise manner, the gap becomes conditioned, and gap-induced PPI is significantly enhanced (Li et al., 2008; Zou et al., 2007) (Fig. 3). Thus when the gap prepulse becomes a signal informing aversive events, it elicits larger sensorimotor gating effects, compared to when it has not been conditioned.

As mentioned above, in humans the processing of the prepulse stimulus is highly correlated to the degree of PPI (Filion and Ciranni, 1994; Mussat-Whitlow and Blumenthal, 1997; Norris and Blumenthal, 1995, 1996; Perlstein et al., 1989, 1993) and attention to the prepulse can enhance PPI (Dawson et al., 2000; Filion and Ciranni, 1994; Filion et al., 1993; Filion and Poje, 2003; Jennings et al., 1996; Schell et al., 2000; Thorne et al., 2005). Thus it is suggested that fear conditioning of the prepulse stimulus drives rats to be alert in listening to room acoustics, facilitates rats' attention to the prepulse stimulus, builds up deeper central L. Li et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 33 (2009) 1157-1167



Fig. 3. Comparison of normalized group-mean magnitude of prepulse inhibition before and after auditory fear-conditioning manipulation in socially-reared rats and isolation-reared rats. Note that fear conditioning leads to a significantly enhancing effect on prepulse inhibition in socially-reared rats but a much weaker enhancing effect in isolation-reared rats. This figure was adapted from Li et al. (2008) with modification.

processing of the prepulse stimulus, and eventually leads to the enhancement of PPI.

Röskam and Koch (2006) reported that after the fear-conditioned acoustic prepulse (10 kHz tone with the duration of 300 ms and the sound pressure level of 72 dB) was further conditioned by a 300-ms light flash (the visual conditioned inhibitor) which indicated that the fear-conditioned tone would not be followed by footshock, presenting the conditioned light inhibitor 300 ms before the startling noise pulse significantly enhanced PPI in rats. However, presenting the double-conditioned acoustic prepulse (after training for conditioned inhibition) did not enhance PPI. Since the authors did not report whether PPI was enhanced just after the prepulse tone was fear conditioned, it is not clear whether auditory fear extinction (AFE) played a role in weakening the effect of AFC. The condition-inhibition paradigm established by Röskam and Koch (2006) would be useful for adjusting the degree of rats' attention to the fear-conditioned acoustic prepulse.

Baschnagel et al. (2007) reported that after the 1-s acoustic prepulse (an intensity increase in background white-noise) was precisely paired with the water presentation in water-deprived rats, PPI was typically reduced at the prepulse lead time of 60 ms. As speculated by the authors, an increase of central release of dopamine elicited by water reward might be a cause for reducing PPI. Thus the authors suggested that "biologically salient appetitive prepulse presented to rats do not have the same effect that attended prepulses have on PPI "in humans".

7. Perceived spatial separation between prepulse and masking noise enhances PPI

To further advance the model for more specifically studying attentional modulation of PPI in rats, we recently investigated whether perceived spatial separation between prepulse and noise masker enhances PPI in socially-reared rats and isolation-reared rats (Du et al., 2009).

In a noisy, reverberant environment, listeners receive not only sound waves that directly emanate from various sources but also reflections from surfaces at various locations. In such an environment, to perceptually segregate a target signal from other disruptive stimuli (which will not be as highly correlated with the target signal), the auditory system must not only integrate sound waves that directly come from the signal source with reflections of the signal source, but also at the same time, integrate sound waves that come from a disruptive source with reflections of the disruptive source. Otherwise the auditory scene will be cluttered and confusing. Humans with normal hearing have the remarkable ability to perceptually integrate correlated sound waves. When the time interval between the direct wave coming from the source and a reflected wave of the source is sufficiently short, attributes of the delayed reflection are perceptually captured by the direct wave (Li et al., 2005), leading to a single fused image whose point of origin is perceived to be around the location of the leading source. This phenomenon is called "in human" (Wallach et al., 1949; for reviews see Li and Yue, 2002; Litovsky et al., 1999). Since a source is usually more correlated with its time-delayed reflections and less correlated (or uncorrelated) with other sources, the perceptual integration associated with the precedence effect facilitates perceived spatial segregation of signals from various sources. The precedence effect also occurs in various types of laboratory animals, including rats (Kelly, 1974; Hoeffding and Harrison, 1979).

In humans, the importance of perceptual fusion of correlated sound waves in improving recognition of speech signals against masking has been experimentally demonstrated (e.g., Freyman et al., 1999; Huang et al., 2008; Li et al., 2004; Rakerd et al., 2006; Wu et al., 2005). For example, when both the target and masker are presented by a loudspeaker to the listener's left and another loudspeaker to the listener's right, the perceived location of the target and that of the masker can be manipulated by changing the inter-loudspeaker interval for the target and that for the masker (Li et al., 2004). More specifically, for both the target and masker, when the sound onset of the right loudspeaker leads that of the left loudspeaker by a short time (e.g., 3 ms), both a single target image and a single masker image are perceived by the human listener as coming from the right loudspeaker. However, if the onset delay between the two loudspeakers is reversed only for the masker, the target is still perceived as coming from the right loudspeaker but the masker is perceived as coming from the left loudspeaker (Fig. 4). The perceived co-location and perceived separation are based on perceptual integration of correlated sound waves delivered from the two loudspeakers. It has been confirmed that perceived target-masker spatial separation facilitates the listener's selective attention to target signals and significantly improves recognition of target signals, even though neither the masker energy at each ear nor the stimulus-image compactness/diffusiveness is substantially changed (Li et al., 2004).

In rats, it has been recently discovered that compared to the precedence-effect-induced perceived co-location between the prepulse and noise masker, perceived spatial separation between the fear-conditioned prepulse and noise masker leads to significantly larger PPI in socially-reared rats (Du et al., 2009). Since the alteration between perceived co-location and perceived spatial separation between the prepulse and masker does not substantially change the signal-to-noise ratio at the ear, the perceived separation-induced PPI enhancement must involve higher-order central processes in improving the prepulse salience by facilitating selective attention to the prepulse signal. In other words, rats are

L. Li et al./Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 33 (2009) 1157-1167



Fig. 4. Diagram showing the perceived locations of target stimuli and masking stimuli under different conditions. Both the target and masker are presented by each of the two loudspeakers with the separation angle of 90° in front of the listener. Under all conditions, the target delivered from the right loudspeaker leads that from the left loudspeaker by 3 ms (right – left = +3 ms, see the left panel), and the perceived location of the target is on the right due to the precedence effect. There were three perceived locations for the masking stimuli: (1) left, when the masker delivered from the right loudspeaker lags behind that from left loudspeaker by 3 ms (right – left = -3 ms, see the top-right panel), causing 90° perceived spatial separation between target and masker; (2) central, when the target delivered from the right loudspeaker starts simultaneously with that delivered from the left loudspeaker (right – left = 0 ms, see the middle-right panel), causing 45° perceived spatial separation between target and masker; (3) right, when the target delivered from the right loudspeaker (3) right, when the target and masker. This figure was adapted from Li et al. (2004).

able to use the perceptual segregation between conditionedprepulse image and masker image to facilitate attention to the prepulse signal, leading to enhanced PPI. However, if the prepulse is not fear conditioned, due to the lack of ecological value of the prepulse, it does not attract rats' selective attention even though perceived spatial separation between the prepulse and masker can be experienced by rats. Thus this new model using perceived spatial separation is particularly useful for studying attentional modulation of PPI in rats.

8. Mechanisms underlying conditional enhancement of PPI in laboratory rats

In rats, the amygdala is involved in modulating PPI (Decker et al., 1995; Fendt et al., 2000; Stevenson and Gratton, 2004; Wan and Swerdlow, 1997; for reviews see Li and Shao, 2003; Swerdlow et al., 2001). The amygdala, especially the lateral nucleus (LA), plays a critical role in forming fear conditioning (Fendt, 2001; Goosens and Maren, 2001; Maren, 1996; Romanski and LeDoux, 1992). Also, to mediate fear-related selective attention to the most salient signal and ignore other signals that emerge simultaneously, the amygdala is crucial for disrupting simultaneous temporal processing of two or more signals under stressful conditions in rats (Meck and MacDonald, 2007). Thus the fear-conditioning-induced enhancement of PPI may involve the amygdala. Since Group I metabotropic glutamate receptors subtype 5 (mGluR5) in the amygdala are essential for both the formation of fear conditioning (Fendt and Schmid, 2002; Rodrigues et al., 2002) and the formation of long-term potentiation in the amygdala (Lee et al., 2002; Rodrigues et al., 2002; Zheng et al., 2008), it is predicted that blocking mGluR5 should disrupt the conditioning-induced PPI enhancement. Indeed, before fear conditioning of the prepulse, systemic injection of the selective antagonist of mGluR5, 2methyl-6-(phenylethynyl)-pyridine (MPEP), markedly blocks the enhancing effect of fear conditioning on PPI (Li et al., 2008; Zou et al., 2007). Thus mGluR5 play a role in preserving the fearconditioning-induced PPI enhancement. However, it is still not clear how the amygdala exerts its influences to the PPI circuitry to participate in modulation of PPI. Although the DpSC (one of the midbrain structures in the circuitry mediating PPI) receive direct axonal projections from the amygdala (Meloni and Davis, 2007) (Fig. 2), whether the descending projections play a role in mediating fear-conditional modulation of PPI still needs further investigation.

Moreover, the IC is the critical structure mediating acoustic PPI (Leitner and Cohen, 1985; Li et al., 1998a,b) and fear/anxiety states

(Brandao et al., 2003). Top-down modulations of auditory responses in the IC may play a role in modulating PPI. In humans, wave V of the brainstem auditory evoked potentials (BAEP) is mainly generated by the termination of the lateral lemniscus in the IC (Möller et al., 1994). Baas et al. (2006) reported that the amplitude of wave V of BAEP to clicks was increased by listeners' anticipation to electrical shock. Although the authors suggested that the increased amplitude of wave V under the shock threat reflects the descending influence from the amygdala, it is not clear whether there are direct axonal projections from the amygdala to the IC. To our knowledge, only one study reported that in both mustached bats (Pteronotus parnellii) and pallid bats (Antrozous pallidus) the basal amygdala (the magnocellular subdivision of the basal nucleus) sent a direct, widespread projection to the IC (Marsh et al., 2002). However, the function of this amygdalocollicular pathway in bats is still not clear. Thus in the future the mechanism underlying amygdaloid modulation of PPI needs further investigation.

It has been reported that the lateral globus pallidus projects to the PPTg (Takahashi et al., 2007) and the auditory cortex projects to the IC (Herbert et al., 1991) (Fig. 2). It is of interest to know whether these two descending pathways are necessary to top-down modulation of PPI.

9. PPI-modulation deficits in schizophrenic patients and ADHD patients

Schizophrenic patients usually have the difficulty suppressing irrelevant sensory stimuli to ensure processing of useful signals (for reviews see Braff et al., 2001; Geyer et al., 2001). Braff et al. (1978, 1992) first reported the PPI deficiency in schizophrenic patients. Their results show that compared to normal participants, schizophrenic patients exhibited significant PPI deficits at 60 and 120 ms intervals between the prepulse stimulus and startling stimulus. Their later studies support the results and further show that disruption of PPI is related to several typical positive or negative symptoms in schizophrenic patients (Braff et al., 1999; Perry and Braff, 1994). So far, numerous studies have confirmed the PPI deficiency in schizophrenic patients and schizotypal personalitydisordered subjects (e.g., Cadenhead et al., 2000; Dawson et al., 2000; Evans et al., 2005; Kumari et al., 1999, 2000; Parwani et al., 2000; Swerdlow et al., 2006), and antipsychotic drugs can not only attenuate symptoms of schizophrenia but also reduce the PPI deficiency (Kumari et al., 1999, 2000; Weike et al., 2000; for reviews see Geyer et al., 2001; Hamm et al., 2001). However, medicated schizophrenic patients still exhibit approximately 20% less PPI than healthy controls (for reviews see Braff et al., 2001; Hamm et al., 2001). In addition, the magnitude of PPI in asymptomatic patients of schizophrenia is not significantly smaller than that in healthy controls when no explicit task regarding the processing of the prepulse is introduced (Kumari et al., 2000; Weike et al., 2000). Thus whether the PPI deficiency itself is specifically associated with certain symptoms of schizophrenia is still questionable.

When instructed to selectively attend to the prepulse stimulus, compared to normal controls, schizophrenic patients and schizotypal personality-disordered subjects exhibit not only reduced baseline PPI but also declined attentional modulation of PPI (e.g., Dawson et al., 1993, 2000; Hazlett et al., 1998, 2003, 2007; McDowd et al., 1993). For example, McDowd et al. (1993) examined PPI in both passive and active attentional paradigms within the same schizophrenic patients and found that the patients showed less PPI particularly in the active attention phase. In addition, Dawson et al. (2000) reported that in patients with schizophrenia under the condition when the prepulse was attended but not the condition when the prepulse was ignored, impaired prepulse inhibition was significantly correlated with heightened delusions, conceptual disorganization, and suspicious-

ness as measured with the expanded Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale. Thus Dawson et al. (2000) proposed that impaired attentional modulation of PPI reflects basic neurocognitive processes related to thought disorder in schizophrenia. Moreover, some recent studies have confirmed that the PPI deficiency that occurs when the prepulse is attended is more associated with the symptom severity in the schizophrenia spectrum (Hazlett et al., 2007) and the correlates between symptoms and PPI deficits in patients with schizophrenia cannot be detected in the passive-attention PPI paradigm (Swerdlow et al., 2006). Thus in patients with schizophrenia, the disability to focus on what is important (i.e., attentional deficits) can be reflected by deficient attentional modulation of PPI. As attentional deficits are the key features of schizophrenia, the impaired attentional modulation of PPI is more specifically correlated with the symptom severity of the disease than impaired baseline PPI.

In boys with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), PPI was reduced 120 ms after onset of the attended prepulse (Hawk et al., 2003), but unaffected if the boys were instructed to ignore the prepulse (Hawk et al., 2003) or PPI was tested with a notask paradigm (Ornitz et al., 1992). Although diminished attention in patients with ADHD is an interesting issue that is worth further investigation using PPI paradigms under task-relevant, irrelevant, and no-task conditions with within-subject designs, up to date, there have been a very small number of published full-length reports (in primary journals) addressing attentional modulation of PPI in patients with ADHD. Thus it is impossible for us to provide an extensive review of this line of research.

Although both schizophrenic patients and ADHD patients exhibit deficient attentional modulation of PPI, their attentional deficits are fundamentally different in some perspectives. For example, Egeland (2007) has reported that patients with ADHD typically displayed a lethargic inattention characterized by high fatigue or a hyperactiveimpulsive pattern and mainly suffered from deficient sustained attention over time, while patients with schizophrenia showed an inability to initially focus attention on current tasks. Clearly, there is a need to further develop paradigms specifically for testing different aspects of attentional modulation of PPI, such as those for differentiating the attention-initiation nature from the attentionmaintenance nature of attentional modulation.

10. New animal models for studying schizophrenia

The neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia emphasizes that certain early-life environmental factors have substantial influences upon the processes of brain maturation, and cause anatomical and functional abnormalities in the central nervous system (e.g., Ellenbroek and Cools, 1998; Marenco and Weinberger, 2000; McGrath et al., 2003; Meyer et al., 2005; Rehn and Rees, 2005; Weinberger, 1996). Therefore, several animal models involving early-life manipulations are proposed. One of the early-life manipulations is isolation rearing after weaning (21 days after birth in rats) (for a review see Weiss and Feldon, 2001). Isolation rearing results in substantial changes in both neural structures/ neurotransmissions (Dalley et al., 2002; Day-Wilson et al., 2006; Harte et al., 2004; Heidbreder et al., 2000, 2001; Jones et al., 1991, 1992; Lapiz et al., 2000; Muchimapura et al., 2003; Preece et al., 2004; Whitaker-Azmitia et al., 2000) and behavior/cognition (Arakawa, 2005; Geyer et al., 1993; Jones et al., 1991; Li et al., 2007a; Paulus et al., 1998; Reboucas and Schimidek, 1997; Varty et al., 2000; Weiss et al., 2001; Wilkinson et al., 1994). PPI deficits in rats can be induced by early maternal separations or social isolation (Bakshi et al., 1998; Cilia et al., 2001, 2005; Li et al., 2008), and the deficits can be attenuated by both typical and atypical antipsychotics (Bakshi et al., 1998; Cilia et al., 2001, 2005; for reviews see Braff et al., 2001; Geyer et al., 2001; Weiss and Feldon, 2001).

It has been suggested that dysfunction of emotional brain systems is even more important in understanding schizophrenia, and both the central and basolateral nuclei of the amygdala contribute to this neurocognitive disorder (e.g., Aleman and Kahn, 2005; Shayegan and Stahl, 2005). Social isolation results in significant neurotransmission abnormalities in the rat's amygdala, including increased dopamine D-2 receptor density in the central nucleus of amygdala and reduced Fos-like immunoreactivity in the central and basolateral nuclei (Djouma et al., 2006; Muchimapura et al., 2002).

On the other hand, the prefrontal cortex, which is typically implicated in schizophrenia, reaches its anatomical and functional maturity only in early adulthood. Based on the postulation by Weinberger (1987), if early neurological injuries in the prefrontal cortex occur before the prefrontal maturity, the effects of the injuries may remain silent until the prefrontal cortex matures. In rats, the medial prefrontal cortex participates in the formation of fear conditioning (Baeg et al., 2001; Corcoran and Quirk, 2007) and attentional control (e.g., Wall and Messier, 2001), and projects to the amygdala (Freedman et al., 2000; McDonald et al., 1996; Sesack et al., 1989). Melendez et al. (2004) reported that the capacity of Group I mGluRs (mGluR1 and mGluR5) to elevate extracellular glutamate levels significantly decreased in the prefrontal cortex of isolation-reared rats compared to rats reared in normal environmental conditions.

We recently reported that a temporally precise combination of footshock with the prepulse stimulus significantly enhances PPI in socially-reared rats (Du et al., 2009; Huang et al., 2007; Li et al., 2008; Zou et al., 2007) and the fear-conditioning-induced PPI enhancement depends on activity of mGluR5 (Li et al., 2008; Zou et al., 2007). However, isolation rearing markedly impairs both the baseline PPI and the conditioning-induced PPI enhancement (Du et al., 2009; Li et al., 2008).

Particularly, the PPI enhancement induced by perceived spatial separation between the prepulse and noise masker disappears in rats with isolation rearing (Du et al., 2009). Thus even after the prepulse becomes fear conditioned (ecologically significant), due to the impairment of inhibitory control in attentional selection caused by isolation rearing (McLean et al., in press; Schrijver and Würbel, 2001), isolation-reared rats may not be able to efficiently inhibit the disruptive influence from the noise masker and shift selective attention to the location of the loudspeaker with the more salient prepulse image.

It is assumed that the impairment of fear-conditioning-induced PPI enhancement in isolation-reared rats is caused by certain anatomical and functional abnormalities in the cortico-striatalpallido-thalamic circuitry including the amygdala, leading to that isolation-reared rats are not able to selectively attend to ecologically important sensory signals for a sufficiently long time when the disruptive startling stimulus is presented. Since higherorder central processes are involved in the PPI enhancement induced by either fear conditioning or perceived spatial separation and fear conditioning depends on activity of mGluR5, which contribute to glutamatergic dysfunction observed in patients of schizophrenia (Bach et al., 2007; Gupta et al., 2005; Pietraszek et al., 2007), the impairment of the conditional and/or perceptual modulation of PPI in isolation-reared rats must be useful for establishing new animal models for studying both cognitive features and biological bases of schizophrenia.

11. Animal PPI models for studying ADHD

Spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) have been widely used as animal models for studying ADHD (Sagvolden et al., 1992; for a recent review see Russell, 2007). The van den Buuse study (2004) reported that PPI in SHR was similar to that in age- and gendermatched genetic control Wistar–Kyoto rats (WKY) but "tended to be" higher than that in Sprague-Dawley rats (P = 0.051) when the prepulse level was 2, 4, 8, 12, or 16 dB over the 70-dB background. However, the Li et al. study (2007b) reported that although at the lower prepulse stimulus level (3, 6, or 9 dB above the 70-dB background) there were no differences between SHR and WKY, SHR showed profound PPI deficits compared to WKY at higher prepulse levels (12 or 15 dB above the background). Thus more studies are needed to clarity whether PPI is impaired in ADHDmodeling rats. Particularly, whether isolation rearing affects SHR and other strains' behaviors differently is still not very clear (but see Hunziker et al., 1996).

As mentioned before, in isolation-reared rats, both baseline PPI and conditional modulation of PPI are impaired. However, Hawk et al. (2003) reported that PPI diminished in ADHD boys only when the prepulse was attended. Thus, whether isolation rearing is suitable for studying ADHD is still an unsolved issue. Up to date, we have not seen any studies suggesting that isolation rearing can be used for establishing animal models of ADHD. Thus caution is needed about using isolation rearing for studying ADHD.

12. Conclusions and future directions

- (1) This review indicates that PPI, which reflects the fast, earlystage gating processing, can be modulated by higher-order cognitive processes in both humans and rats. Up to date, the behavioral paradigms used for studying attentional modulation of PPI in humans are much better established than those in laboratory animals. Thus a critical issue in future research is how to establish PPI paradigms for rats using intermixed fearconditioned prepulses and conditioning-controlled prepulses with a within-participant design. New animal PPI models are essential not only for examining effects of selective attention on PPI but also for encouraging related anatomical, pharmacological, and physiological studies.
- (2) Although using the fMRI methods in human PPI studies has opened a new avenue in this line of research, the separation of the biological correlates for sensory coding from those for sensory gating is still facing a considerable hurdle. Also, since both prepulse and startling pulse elicit both sensory coding and sensory gating, the separation of the consequences of these two types of stimulation is a challenge in the brain-imaging approach.
- (3) Improving the specificity to schizophrenia is the central issue in establishing animal models for studying this psychiatric disorder. Impairment of attentional modulation of PPI in isolation-reared rats may be used for boosting the generation of the new models for studying schizophrenia. Since attentiondeficit is one of the major symptoms of ADHD, whether attentional modulation of PPI in rats can be used for studying ADHD is a new issue in future investigation.

Acknowledgments

Supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China, the Ministry of Education of China, "985" grants from Peking University, and Peking University President's Research Fellowship.

References

Aleman, A., Kahn, R.S., 2005. Strange feelings: do amygdala abnormalities dysregulate the emotional brain in schizophrenia? Prog. Neurobiol. 77, 283–298. Arakawa, H., 2005. Interaction between isolation rearing and social development on

- exploratory behavior in male rats. Behav. Process. 70, 223–234. Ashare, R.L., Hawk Jr., L.W., Mazzullo, R.J., 2007. Motivated attention: incentive
- effects on attentional modification of prepulse inhibition. Psychophysiology 44, 839–845.

L. Li et al. / Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews 33 (2009) 1157-1167

- Austin, M.C., Kalivas, P.W., 1991. Dopaminergic involvement in locomotion elicited from the ventral pallidum/substantia innominata. Brain Res. 542, 123–131.
- Baas, J.M.P., Milstein, J., Donlevy, M., Grillon, C., 2006. Brainstem correlates of defensive states in humans. Biol. Psychiatry 59, 588–593.
- Bach, P., Issac, M., Slassi, A., 2007. Metabotropic glutamate receptor 5 modulators and their potential therapeutic applications. Expert Opin. Ther. Patents 17, 371– 384.
- Baeg, E.H., Kim, Y.B., Jang, J., Kim, H.T., Mook-Jung, I., Jung, M.W., 2001. Fast spiking and regular spiking neural correlates of fear conditioning in the medial prefrontal cortex of the rat. Cereb. Cortex 11, 441–451.
- Bakshi, V.P., Swerdlow, N.R., Braff, D.L., Geyer, M.A., 1998. Reversal of isolation rearing-induced deficits in prepulse inhibition by seroquel and olanzapine. Biol. Psychiatry 43, 436–445.
- Barsz, K., Benson, P.K., Walton, J.P., 1998. Gap encoding by inferior collicular neurons is altered by minimal changes in signal envelope. Hear. Res. 115, 13–26.
- Barsz, K., Ison, J.R., Snell, K.B., Walton, J.P., 2002. Behavioral and neural measures of auditory temporal acuity in aging humans and mice. Neurobiol. Aging 23, 565– 578.
- Baschnagel, J.S., Hawk Jr., L.W., Colder, C.R., Richards, J.B., 2007. Motivated attention and prepulse inhibition of startle in rats: using conditioned reinforcers as prepulses. Behav. Neurosci. 121, 1372–1382.
- Bohmelt, A.H., Schell, A.M., Dawson, M.E., 1999. Attentional modulation of shortand long-lead-interval modification of the acoustic startle eyeblink response: comparing auditory and visual prestimuli. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 32, 239–250.
- Bradley, M.M., Cuthbert, B.N., Lang, P.J., 1993. Pictures as prepulse: attention and emotion in startle modification. Psychophysiology 30, 541–545.
- Bradley, M.M., Codispoti, M., Lang, P.J., 2006. A multi-process account of startle modulation during affective perception. Psychophysiology 43, 486–497.
- Braff, D.L., Stone, C., Callaway, E., Geyer, M., Glick, I., Bali, L., 1978. Prestimulus effects on human startle reflex in normal and schizophrenics. Psychophysiology 15, 339–343.
- Braff, D.L., Grillon, C., Geyer, M.A., 1992. Gating and habituation of the startle reflex in schizophrenic patients. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 49, 206–215.
 Braff, D.L., Swerdlow, N.R., Geyer, M.A., 1999. Symptom correlates of prepulse
- Braff, D.L., Swerdlow, N.R., Geyer, M.A., 1999. Symptom correlates of prepulse inhibition deficits in male schizophrenic patients. Am. J. Psychiatry 156, 596–602.
- Braff, D.L., Geyer, M.A., Swerdlow, N.R., 2001. Human studies of prepulse inhibition of startle, normal subjects, patient groups, and pharmacological studies. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 156, 234–258.
- Brandao, M.L., Troncoso, A.C., Souza Silva, M.A., Huston, J.P., 2003. The relevance of neuronal substrates of defense in the midbrain tectum to anxiety and stress: empirical and conceptual considerations. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 463, 225–233.
- Buckland, G., Buckland, J., Jamieson, C., Ison, J.R., 1969. Inhibition of startle response to acoustic stimulation produced by visual prestimulation. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 67, 493–496.
- Cadenhead, K.S., Swerdlow, N.R., Schafer, K.M., Diaz, M., Braff, D.L., 2000. Modulation of the startle response and startle laterality in relatives of schizophrenia patients and schizotypal personality disordered subjects, evidence of inhibitory deficits. Am. J. Psychiatry 157, 1660–1668.
- deficits. Am. J. Psychiatry 157, 1660–1668.
 Campbell, L.E., Hughes, M., Budd, T.W., Cooper, G., Fulham, W.R., Karayanidis, F., Hanlon, M.C., Stojanov, W., Johnston, P., Case, V., Schall, U., 2007. Primary and secondary neural networks of auditory prepulse inhibition: a functional magnetic resonance imaging study of sensorimotor gating of the human acoustic startle response. Eur. J. Neurosci. 26, 2327–2333.
- Cilia, J., Reavill, C., Hagan, J.J., 2001. Long-term evaluation of isolation-rearing induced prepulse inhibition deficits in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 156, 327–337.
- Cilia, J., Hatcher, P.D., Reavill, C., 2005. Long-term evaluation of isolation-rearing induced prepulse inhibition deficits in rats, an update. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 180, 57–62.
- Corcoran, K.A., Quirk, G.J., 2007. Activity in prelimbic cortex is necessary for the expression of learned, but not innate, fears. J. Neurosci. 27, 840–844.
- Cornwell, B.R., Echiverri, A.M., Covington, M.F., Grillon, C., 2008. Modality-specific attention under imminent but not remote threat of shock: evidence from differential prepulse inhibition of startle. Psychol. Sci. 19, 615–622.
- Dalley, J.W., Theobald, D.E., Pereira, E.A.C., Li, P.M.M.C., Robbins, T.W., 2002. Specific abnormalities in serotonin release in the prefrontal cortex of isolation-reared rats measured during behavioural performance of a task assessing visuospatial attention and impulsivity. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 164, 329–340.
- Davis, M., 1984. The mammalian startle response. In: Eaton, R.C. (Ed.), Neural Mechanisms of Startle Behavior. Plenum Press, New York, pp. 287–351.
- Davis, M., Gendelman, P.M., 1977. Plasticity of the acoustic startle response in the acutely decerebrate rat. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 91, 549–563.
- Dawson, M.E., Hazlett, E.A., Filion, D.L., Nuechterlein, K.H., Schell, A.M., 1993. Attention and schizophrenia: impaired modulation of the startle reflex. J. Abnorm. Psychol. 102, 633–641.
- Dawson, M.E., Schell, A.M., Hazlett, E.A., Nuechterlein, K.H., Filion, D.L., 2000. On the clinical and cognitive meaning of impaired sensorimotor gating in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res. 96, 187–197.
- Day-Wilson, K.M., Jones, D.N.C., Southam, E., Cilia, J., Totterdell, S., 2006. Medial prefrontal cortex volume loss in rats with isolation rearing-induced deficits in prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle. Neuroscience 141, 1113–1121.
- Decker, M.W., Curzon, P., Brioni, J.D., 1995. Influence of separate and combined septal and amygdala lesions on memory, acoustic startle, anxiety, and locomotor activity in rats. Neurobiol. Learn. Mem. 64, 156–168.

- Djouma, E., Card, K., Lodge, D.J., Lawrence, A.J., 2006. The CRF1 receptor antagonist, antalarmin, reverses isolation-induced up-regulation of dopamine D-2 receptors in the amygdala and nucleus accumbens of Fawn-Hooded rats. Eur. J. Neurosci. 23, 3319–3327.
- Du, Y., Li, J.-Y., Wu, X.-H., Li, L., 2009. Precedence effect-induced enhancement of prepulse inhibition in socially reared but not isolation-reared rats. Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci. 9, 44–58.
- Egeland, J., 2007. Differentiating attention deficit in adult ADHD and schizophrenia. Arch. Clin. Neuropsychol. 22, 763–771.
- Elden, A., Flaten, M.A., 2002. The relationship of automatic and controlled processing to prepulse inhibition. J. Psychophysiol. 16, 46–55.
- Elden, A., Flaten, M.A., 2003. Similar effects of attention directed to acoustic and tactile stimuli on prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle. Scand. J. Psychol. 44, 363–372.
- Ellenbroek, B.A., Cools, A.R., 1998. The neurodevelopment hypothesis of schizophrenia. Clinical evidence and animal models. Neurosci. Res. Commun. 22, 127– 136.
- Evans, L.H., Gray, N.S., Snowden, R.J., 2005. Prepulse inhibition of startle and its moderation by schizotypy and smoking. Psychophysiology 42, 223–231.
- Fendt, M., 1999. Enhancement of prepulse inhibition after blockade of GABA activity within the superior colliculus. Brain Res. 833, 81–85.
- Fendt, M., 2001. Injections of the NMDA receptor antagonist aminophosphonopentanoic acid into the lateral nucleus of the amygdala block the expression of fearpotentiated startle and freezing. J. Neurosci. 21, 4111–4115.
- Fendt, M., Koch, M., Schnitzler, H.U., 1994. Sensorimotor gating deficits after lesions of the superior colliculus. Neuroreport 5, 1725–1728.
- Fendt, M., Schwienbacher, I., Koch, M., 2000. Amygdaloid N-methyl-b-aspartate and gamma-aminobutyric acidA receptors regulate sensorimotor gating in a dopamine-dependent way in rats. Neuroscience 98, 55–60.
- Fendt, M., Li, L., Yeomans, J.S., 2001. Brainstem circuits mediating prepulse inhibition of the startle reflex. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 156, 216–224.
 Fendt, M., Schmid, S., 2002. Metabotropic glutamate receptors are involved in
- Fendt, M., Schmid, S., 2002. Metabotropic glutamate receptors are involved in amygdaloid plasticity. Eur. J. Neurosci. 15, 1535–1541.
- Filion, D.L., Dawson, M.E., Schell, A.M., 1993. Modification of the acoustic startlereflex eyeblink: a tool for investigating early and late attentional processes. Biol. Psychol. 35, 185–200.
- Filion, D.L., Ciranni, M., 1994. The function significance of prepulse inhibition. A test of the protection of processing theory. Psychophysiology 31 (Suppl.), S46.
- Filion, D.L., Poje, A.B., 2003. Selective and nonselective attention effects on prepulse inhibition of startle: a comparison of task and no-task protocols. Biol. Psychol. 64, 283–296.
- Foss, J.A., Ison, J.R., Torre Jr., J.P., Wansack, S., 1989a. The acoustic startle response and disruption of aiming: I. Effect of stimulus repetition, intensity, and intensity changes. Hum. Factors 31, 307–318.
- Foss, J.A., Ison, J.R., Torre, J.P., 1989b. The acoustic startle response and disruption of aiming: II. Modulation by forewarning and preliminary stimuli. Hum. Factors 31, 319–334.
- Fox, J.E., 1979. Habituation and prestimulus inhibition of auditory startle reflex in decerebrate rats. Physiol. Behav. 23, 291–297.
- Freedman, L.J., Insel, T.R., Smith, Y., 2000. Subcortical projections of area 25 (subgenual cortex) of the macaque monkey. J. Comp. Neurol. 421, 172–188.Freyman, R.L., Helfer, K.S., McCall, D.D., Clifton, R.K., 1999. The role of perceived
- Freyman, R.L., Helfer, K.S., McCall, D.D., Clifton, R.K., 1999. The role of perceived spatial separation in unmasking of speech. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 106, 3578–3588.
- Geyer, M.A., Wilkinson, L.S., Humby, T., Robbins, T.W., 1993. Isolation rearing of rats produces a deficit in prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle similar to that in schizophrenia. Biol. Psychiatry 34, 361–372.
- schizophrenia. Biol. Psychiatry 34, 361–372.
 Geyer, M.A., Krebs-Thomson, K., Braff, D.L., 2001. Pharmacological studies of prepulse inhibition models of sensorimotor gating deficits in schizophrenia: a decade in review. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 156, 117–154.
- Goldman, M.B., Heidinger, L., Kulkarni, K., Zhu, D.C., Chien, A., McLaren, D.G., Shah, J., Coffey, C.E., Sharif, S., Chen, E., Uftring, S.J., Small, S.L., Solodkin, A., Pilla, R.S., 2006. Changes in the amplitude and timing of the hemodynamic response associated with prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle. Neuroimage 32, 1375– 1384.
- Gomez-Nieto, R., Rubio, M.E., Lopez, D.E., 2008. Cholinergic input from the ventral nucleus of the trapezoid body to cochlear root neurons in rats. J. Comp. Neurol. 506, 452–468.
- Goosens, K.A., Maren, S., 2001. Contextual and auditory fear conditioning are mediated by the lateral, basal, and central amygdaloid nuclei in rats. Learn. Mem. 8, 148–155.
- Graham, F.K., 1975. The more or less startling effects of weak prestimulation. Psychophysiology 12, 238–248.
- Greenwald, M.K., Bradley, M.M., Cuthbert, B.N., Lang, P.J., 1998. Sensitization of the startle reflex in humans following aversive electric shock exposure. Behav. Neurosci. 112, 1069–1079.
- Grillon, C., Davis, M., 1997. Effects of stress and shock anticipation on prepulse inhibition of the startle reflex. Psychophysiology 34, 511–517.
- Gupta, D.S., McCullumsmith, G.E., Beneyto, M., Haroutunian, V., Davis, K.L., Meador-Woodruff, J.H., 2005. Metabotropic glutamate receptor protein expression in the prefrontal cortex and striatum in schizophrenia. Synapse 57, 123–131.
- Hamm, A.O., Weike, A.I., Schupp, H.T., 2001. The effect of neuroleptic medication on prepulse inhibition in schizophrenia patients. Current status and future issues. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 156, 259–265.
- Harte, M.K., Powell, S.B., Reynolds, L.M., Swerdlow, N.R., Geyer, M.A., Reynolds, G.P., 2004. Reduced N-acetylaspartate in the temporal cortex of rats reared in isolation. Biol. Psychiatry 56, 296–299.

Author's personal copy

- Hawk Jr., L.W., Redford, J.S., Baschnagel, J.S., 2002. Influence of a monetary incentive upon attentional modification of short-lead prepulse inhibition and long-lead prepulse facilitation of acoustic startle. Psychophysiology 39, 674-677.
- Hawk, L.W., Yartz, A.R., Pelham, W.E., Lock, T.M., 2003. The effects of methylphenidate on prepulse inhibition during attended and ignored prestimuli among boys with attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. Psychopharmacology 165, 118 - 127
- Hazlett, E.A., Buchsbaum, M.S., Haznedar, M.M., Singer, M.B., Germans, M.K., 1998. Prefrontal cortex glucose metabolism and startle eyeblink modification abnormalities in unmedicated schizophrenia patients. Psychophysiology 35, 186-198
- Hazlett, E.A., Buchsbaum, M.S., Tang, C.Y., Fleischman, M.B., Wei, T.C., Byne, W., Haznedar, M.M., 2001. Thalamic activation during an attention-to-prepulse startle modification paradigm: a functional MRI study. Biol. Psychiatry 50, 281-291.
- Hazlett, E.A., Levine, J., Buchsbaum, M.S., Silverman, J.M., New, A., Sevin, E.M., 2003. Deficient attentional modulation of the startle response in patients with
- schizotypal personality disorder. Am. J. Psychiatry 160, 1621–1626. Hazlett, E.A., Romero, M.J., Haznedar, M.M., 2007. Deficient attentional modulation of startle eyeblink is associated with symptom severity in the schizophrenia spectrum. Schizophr. Res. 93, 288-295.
- Heekeren, K., Meincke, U., Geyer, M.A., Gouzoulis-Mayfrank, E., 2004. Attentional modulation of prepulse inhibition: a new startle paradigm. Neuropsychobiology 49, 88-93.
- Heidbreder, C.A., Weiss, I.C., Domeney, A.M., Pryce, C., Homber, J., Hedou, G., Feldon, J., Moran, M.C., Nelson, P., 2000. Behavioral, neurochemical and endocrinological characterization of the early isolation syndrome. Neuroscience 100, 749–
- Heidbreder, C.A., Foxton, R., Cilia, J., Hughes, Z.A., Shah, A.J., Atkins, A., Hunter, A.J., Hagan, J.J., Jones, D.N., 2001. Increased responsiveness of dopamine to atypical, but not typical antipsychotics in the medial prefrontal cortex of rats reared in
- isolation. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 156, 338–351. Herbert, H., Aschoff, A., Ostwald, J., 1991. Topography of projections from the auditory-cortex to the inferior colliculus in the rat. J. Comp. Neurol. 304, 103-122.
- Hitchcock, J.M., Davis, M., 1987. Fear-potentiated startle using an auditory conditioned stimulus: effect of lesions of the amygdala. Physiol. Behav. 39, 403-408.
- Hoeffding, V., Harrison, J.M., 1979. Auditory discrimination: role of time and intensity in the precedence effect. J. Exp. Anal. Behav. 32, 157–166. Hoffman, H.S., Searle, J.L., 1965. Acoustic variables in the modification of startle
- reaction in the rat. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 60, 53-58. Hoffman, H.S., Overman, W., 1971. Performance disruption by startle-eliciting
- acoustic stimuli. Psychol. Sci. 24, 233–235. Hoffman, H.S., Ison, J.R., 1980. Reflex modification in the domain of startle: I. Some
- empirical findings and their implications for how the nervous system processes sensory input. Psychol. Rev. 87, 175-189.
- Huang, J., Yang, Z.-G., Ping, J.-L., Liu, X., Wu, X.H., Li, L., 2007. The influence of the perceptual or fear learning on rats' prepulse inhibition induced by changes in the correlation between two spatially separated noise sounds. Hear. Res. 223, 1 - 10.
- Huang, Y., Huang, O., Chen, X., Ou, T.-S., Wu, X.-H., Li, L., 2008, Perceptual integration between target speech and target-speech reflection reduces masking for targetspeech recognition in younger adults and older adults. Hear. Res. 244, 51-65.
- Hunziker, M.H.L., Saldana, R.L., Neuringer, A., 1996. Behavioral variability in SHR
- Hunzher, Minler, Saldana, R.E., Hedringer, J., 1950. Behavioral variability in Site and WKY rats as a function of rearing environment and reinforcement con-tingency. J. Exp. Anal. Behav. 65, 129–144.
 Hutchison, K.E., McGeary, J., Wooden, A., Blumenthal, T., Ito, T., 2003. Startle magnitude and prepulse inhibition: effects of alcohol and attention. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 167, 235-241.
- Ison, J.R., Agrawal, P., Pak, J., Vaughn, W.J., 1998. Changes in temporal acuity with age and with hearing impairment in the mouse: a study of the acoustic startle reflex and its inhibition by brief decrements in noise level. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 104. 1696-1704.
- Ison, J.R., Bowen, G.P., 2000. Scopolamine reduces sensitivity to auditory gaps in the rat, suggesting a cholinergic contribution to temporal acuity. Hear. Res. 145, 169-176.
- Ison, J.R., Hammond, G.R., 1971. Modification of the startle reflex in rat by changes in the auditory and visual environments. J. Comp. Physiol. Psychol. 75, 452.
- Ison, J.R., O'Connor, K., Bowen, G.P., Bocirnea, A., 1991. Temporal resolution of gaps in noise by the rat is lost with functional decortication. Behav. Neurosci. 103, 33-40.
- Jennings, P.D., Schell, A.M., Filion, D.L., Dawson, M.E., 1996. Tracking early and late stages of information processing: contributions of startle eyeblink reflex modification. Psychophysiology 33, 148-155.
- Jones, G.H., Marsden, C.A., Robbins, T.W., 1991. Behavioural rigidity and rulelearning deficits following isolation-rearing in the rat, neurochemical corre-lates. Behav. Brain Res. 43, 35–50.
- Jones, G.H., Hernandez, T.D., Kendall, D.A., 1992. Dopaminergic and serotonergic function following isolation rearing in rats-study of behavioral-response and postmortem and invivo neurochemistry. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 43, 17-35.
- Kelly, J.B., 1974. Localization of paired sound sources in the rat: small time difference. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 55, 1277–1284. Koch, M., Kungel, M., Herbert, H., 1993. Cholinergic neurons in the pedunculopon-
- tine tegmental nucleus are involved in the mediation of prepulse inhibition of the acoustic startle response in the rat. Exp. Brain Res. 97, 71–82.

- Koch, M., Schnitzler, H.U., 1997. The acoustic startle response in rats-circuits mediating evocation, inhibition and potentiation. Behav. Brain Res. 89, 35-49. Kodsi, M.H., Swerdlow, N.R., 1997. Regulation of prepulse inhibition by ventral
- pallidal projections. Brain Res. Bull. 43, 219-228. Kumari, V., Soni, W., Sharma, T., 1999. Normalization of information processing
- deficits in schizophrenia with clozapine. Am. J. Psychiatry 156, 1046–1051. Kumari, V., Soni, W., Mathew, V.M., Sharma, T., 2000. Prepulse inhibition of the
- startle response in men with schizophrenia, effects of age of onset of illness, symptoms, and medication. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 57, 609-614.
- Kumari, V., Antonova, E., Geyer, M.A., Ffytche, D., Williams, S.C.R., Sharma, T., 2007. A fMRI investigation of startle gating deficits in schizophrenia patients treated with typical or atypical antipsychotics. Int. J. Neuropsychopharmacol. 10, 463–477. Landis, C., Hunt, W.A., 1939. The Startle Pattern. Farrar and Rinehart, New York.
- Lapiz, M.D.S., Mateo, Y., Parker, T., 2000. Effects of noradrenaline depletion in the
- brain on response to novelty in isolation-reared rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 152, 312-320. Lee, O.K., Lee, C.J., Choi, S., 2002. Induction mechanisms for L-LTP at thalamic input
- synapses to the lateral amygdala, requirement of mGluR5 activation. Neuroreport 13, 685-691.
- Leitner, D.S., Cohen, M.E., 1985. Role of the inferior colliculus in the inhibition of acoustic startle in the rat. Physiol. Behav. 34, 65-70.
- Leitner, D.S., Girten, E.M., 1997. Dopamine receptor agonists alter gap prestimulus modulation. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 134, 213-220.
- Li, L., Frost, B.J., 1996. Azimuthal sensitivity of rat pinna reflex: EMG recordings from cervicoauricular muscles. Hear. Res. 100, 192-200.
- Li, L, Korngut, L.M., Frost, B.J., Beninger, R.J., 1998a. Prepulse inhibition following lesions of the inferior colliculus: prepulse intensity functions. Physiol. Behav. 65, 133-139.
- Li, L., Priebe, R.P.M., Yeomans, J.S., 1998b. Prepulse inhibition of acoustic or trigeminal startle of rats by unilateral electrical stimulation of the inferior colliculus. Behav. Neurosci. 112, 1187-1198.
- Li, L., Yeomans, J.S., 1999. Summation between acoustic and trigeminal stimuli evoking startle. Neuroscience 90, 139-152.
- Li, L., Fulton, J.D., Yeomans, J.S., 1999. Effects of bilateral electrical stimulation of the ventral pallidum on acoustic startle. Brain Res. 836, 164-172.
- Li, L., Frost, B.J., 2000. Azimuthal directional sensitivity of prepulse inhibition of the pinna startle reflex in decerebrate rats. Brain Res. Bull. 51, 95-100.
- Li, L, Yeomans, J.S., 2000. Using intracranial electrical stimulation to study the timing of prepulse inhibition of the startle reflex. Brain Res. Protoc. 5, 67–74. Li, L., Steidl, S., Yeomans, J.S., 2001. Contributions of the vestibular nucleus and
- vestibulospinal tract to the startle reflex. Neuroscience 106, 811-821
- Li, L., Yue, Q., 2002. Auditory gating processes and binaural inhibition in the inferior
- colliculus. Hear. Res. 168, 113–124. Li, L., Shao, F., 2003. Impaired auditory sensorimotor gating: an animal model of schizophrenia. Chin. Sci. Bull. 48, 2031–2037.
- Li, L., Daneman, M., Qi, G.Q., Schneider, B.A., 2004. Does the information content of an irrelevant source differentially affect speech recognition in younger and older adults? J Exp. Psychol. Hum. Percept. Perform. 30, 1077-1091.
- Li, L., Qi, J.G., He, Y., Alain, C., Schneider, B., 2005. Attribute capture in the precedence effect for long-duration noise sounds. Hear. Res. 202, 235-247.
- Li, N., Wu, X., Li, L., 2007a, Chronic administration of clozapine alleviates reversallearning impairment in isolation-reared rats. Behav. Pharmacol. 18, 135-145. Li, N., Ping, J., Wu, R., Wang, C., Wu, X., Li, L., 2008. Auditory fear conditioning
- modulates prepulse inhibition in socially-reared rats and isolation-reared rats. Behav. Neurosci. 122, 107-118.
- Li, Q., Lu, G., Antonio, G.E., Mak, Y.T., Rudd, J.A., Fan, M., Yew, D.T., 2007b. The usefulness of spontaneously hypertensive rat to model attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) may be explained by the differential expression of dopamine-related genes in the brain. Int. Neurochem. 50, 848-857
- Litovsky, R.Y., Colburn, H.S., Yost, W.A., Guzman, S.J., 1999. The precedence effect. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 106, 1633-1654.
- Maren, S., 1996. Synaptic transmission and plasticity in the amygdala-an emerging physiology of fear conditioning circuits. Mol. Neurobiol. 13, 1–22. Marenco, S., Weinberger, D.R., 2000. The neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schi-
- zophrenia: following a trail of evidence from cradle to grave. Dev. Psychopathol. 12. 501-527.
- Marsh, R.A., Fuzessery, Z.M., Grose1, C.D., Wenstrup, J.J., 2002. Projection to the inferior colliculus from the basal nucleus of the amygdala. J. Neurosci. 22, 10449-10460
- McDonald, A.J., Mascagni, F., Guo, L., 1996. Projections of the medial and lateral prefrontal cortices to the amygdala: a Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin study in the rat. Neuroscience 71, 55-75.
- McDowd, J.M., Filion, D.L., Harris, M.J., Braff, D.L., 1993. Sensory gating and inhibitory function in late-life schizophrenia. Schizophr. Bull. 19, 733-746.
- McGrath, J.J., Feron, F.P., Burne, T.H.J., Mackay-Sim, A., Eyles, D.W., 2003. The neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia: a review of recent developments. Ann. Med. 35, 86-93.
- McLean, S.L., Grayson, B., Harris, M., Protheroe, C., Bate, S., Woolley, M.L., Neill, J.C. Isolation rearing impairs novel object recognition and attentional set shifting performance in female rats. J. Psychopharmacol., in press. Meck, W.H., MacDonald, C.J., 2007. Amygdala inactivation reverses fear's ability to
- impair divided attention and make time stand still. Behav. Neurosci. 121, 707-720
- Melendez, R.I., Gregory, M.L., Bardo, M.T., Kalivas, P.W., 2004. Impoverished rearing environment alters metabotrophic glutamate receptor expression and function in the prefrontal cortex. Neuropsychopharmacology 29, 1980-1987.

- Meloni, E.G., Davis, M., 2007. GABA in the deep layers of the superior colliculus/ mesencephalic reticular formation mediates the enhancement of startle by the dopamine D-1 receptor agonist SKF 82958 in rats. J. Neurosci. 20, 5374–5381.
- Meyer, U., Feldon, J., Schedlowskib, M., Yee, B.K., 2005. Towards an immunoprecipitated neurodevelopmental animal model of schizophrenia. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 29, 913–947.
- Mogenson, G.J., Jones, D.J., Yim, C.Y., 1980. From motivation to action: functional interface between the limbic system and the motor system. Prog. Neurobiol. 14, 69–97.
- Möller, A.R., Jannetta, P.J., Jho, H.D., 1994. Click-evoked responses from the cochlear nucleus: a study in human. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 92, 215– 224.
- Muchimapura, S., Fulford, A.J., Mason, R., Marsden, C.A., 2002. Isolation rearing in the rat disrupts the hippocampal response to stress. Neuroscience 112, 697–705.
- Muchimapura, S., Mason, R., Marsden, C.A., 2003. Effect of isolation rearing on preand post-synaptic serotonergic function in the rat dorsal hippocampus. Synapse 47, 209–217.
- Mussat-Whitlow, B.J., Blumenthal, T.D., 1997. Impact of acoustic and vibrotactile prepulse on acoustic and electrical blink reflexes. Startle inhibition and task accuracy results. Psychophysiology 34 (Suppl.), S66.Norris, C.M., Blumenthal, T.D., 1995. Evidence for the protection of preattentive
- Norris, C.M., Blumenthal, T.D., 1995. Evidence for the protection of preattentive processing during inhibition of the acoustic startle response. Psychophysiology 32 (Suppl.), 57.
- Norris, C.M., Blumenthal, T.D., 1996. A relationship between inhibition of the acoustic startle response and the protection of prepulse processing. Psychobiology 24, 160–168.
- Ornitz, E.M., Hanna, G., Detraversay, L.J., 1992. Prestimulation-induced startle modulation in attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder and nocturnal enuresis. Psychophysiology 29, 437–451.
- Panagis, G., Nomikos, G.G., Miliaressis, E., Chergui, K., 1997. Ventral pallidum selfstimulation induces stimulus dependent increase in c-fos expression in rewardrelated brain regions. Neuroscience 77, 175–186.
- Parwani, A., Duncan, E.J., Bartlett, E., Madonick, S.H., Efferen, T.R., 2000. Impaired prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle in schizophrenia. Biol. Psychiatry 47, 662–669.
- Paulus, M.P., Bakshi, V.P., Geyer, M.A., 1998. Isolation rearing affects sequential organization of motor behavior in post-pubertal but not pre-pubertal Lister and Sprague-Dawley rats. Behav. Brain Res. 94, 271–280.
- Perlstein, W.M., Fiorito, E., Simon, R.F., Graham, F.K., 1989. Prestimulation effects on reflex blink and evoked potentials in normal and schizotypal subjects. Psychophysiology 26 (Suppl.), S48.
- Perlstein, W.M., Fiorito, E., Simon, R.F., Graham, F.K., 1993. Lead stimulation effects on reflex blink, exogenous brain potentials, and loudness judgments. Psychophysiology 30, 347–358.
- Perry, W., Braff, D.L., 1994. Information-processing deficits and thought disorder in schizophrenia. Am. J. Psychiatry 151, 363–367.
- Pickney, L.A., 1976. Inhibition of the startle in the rat by prior tactile stimulation. Anim. Learn Behav. 4, 467–472.
- Pietraszek, M., Nagel, J., Gravius, A., Schaefer, D., Danysz, W., 2007. The role of group I metabotropic glutamate receptors in schizophrenia. Amino Acids 32, 173–178.
- Plomp, R., 1964. Rate of decay of auditory sensation. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 36, 277–282.
 Preece, M.A., Dalley, J.W., Theobald, D.H., 2004. Region specific changes in forebrain 5-hydroxytryptamine(1A) and 5-hydroxytryptamine(2A) receptors in isolation-reared rats. An in vitro autoradiography study. Neuroscience 123, 725–732.
- Rakerd, B., Aaronson, N.L., Hartmann, W.M., 2006. Release from speech-on-speech masking by adding a delayed masker at a different location. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 119, 1597–1605.
- Reboucas, R., Schimidek, W.R., 1997. Handing and isolation in three strains of rats affect open field, exploration, hoarding and predation. Physiol. Behav. 62, 1159–1164.
- Rehn, A.E., Rees, S.M., 2005. Investigating the neurodevelopmental hypothesis of schizophrenia. Clin. Exp. Pharmacol. Physiol. 32, 687–696.Rodrigues, S.M., Bauer, E.P., Farb, C.R., Schafe, G.E., LeDoux, J.E., 2002. The group I
- Rodrigues, S.M., Bauer, E.P., Farb, C.R., Schafe, G.E., LeDoux, J.E., 2002. The group I metabotropic glutamate receptor mGluR5 is required for fear memory formation and long-term potentiation in the lateral amygdala. J. Neurosci. 22, 5219–5229.
- Romanski, L.M., LeDoux, J.E., 1992. Equipotentiality of thalamoamygdala and thalamocorticoamygdala circuits in auditory fear conditioning. J. Neurosci. 12, 4501–4509.
- Röskam, S., Koch, M., 2006. Enhanced prepulse inhibition of startle using salient prepulses in rats. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 60, 10–14.
- Russell, V.A., 2007. Neurobiology of animal models of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. J. Neurosci. Method 166, I–I10.
- Sagvolden, T., Metzger, M.A., Schiorbeck, H.K., Rugland, A.L., Spinnangr, I., Sagvolden, G., 1992. The spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR) as an animal-model of childhood hyperactivity (ADHD)—changed reactivity to reinforcers and to psychomotor stimulants. Behav. Neural Biol. 58, 103–112.Schell, A.M., Wynn, J.K., Dawson, M.E., Sinaii, N., Niebala, C.B., 2000. Automatic and
- Schell, A.M., Wynn, J.K., Dawson, M.E., Sinaii, N., Niebala, C.B., 2000. Automatic and controlled attentional processes in startle eyeblink modification: effects of habituation of the prepulse. Psychophysiology 37, 409–417.
- Schrijver, N.C., Würbel, H., 2001. Early social deprivation disrupts attentional, but not affective, shifts in rats. Behav. Neurosci. 115, 437–442.
- Sesack, S.R., Deutch, A.Y., Roth, R.H., 1989. Topographical organization of the efferent projections of the medial prefrontal cortex in the rat—an anterograde tract-tracing study with Phaseolus-vulgaris leucoagglutinin. J. Comp. Neurol. 290, 213–242.

- Shayegan, D.K., Stahl, S.M., 2005. Emotion processing, the amygdala, and outcome in schizophrenia. Prog. Neuro-Psychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 29, 840–845.
- Silverstein, L.D., Graham, F.K., Calloway, J.M., 1980. Preconditioning and excitability of the human orbicularis oculi reflex as a function of state. Electroencephalogr. Clin. Neurophysiol. 48, 406–417.Stanley, J., Knight, R.G., 2004. Emotional specificity of startle potentiation during the
- Stanley, J., Knight, R.G., 2004. Emotional specificity of startle potentiation during the early stages of picture viewing. Psychophysiology 41, 935–940.
- Stevenson, C.W., Gratton, A., 2004. Role of basolateral amygdala dopamine in modulating prepulse inhibition and latent inhibition in the rat. Psychopharmacology 176, 139–145.
- Swerdlow, N.R., Geyer, M.A., 1993. Prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle in rats after lesions of the pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus. Behav. Neurosci. 107, 104– 117.
- Swerdlow, N.R., Keith, V.A., Braff, D.L., Geyer, M.A., 1991. Effects of spiperone, raclopride, sch-23390 and clozapine on apomorphine inhibition of sensorimotor gating of the startle response in the rat. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 256, 530– 536.
- Swerdlow, N.R., Geyer, M.A., Braff, D.L., 2001. Neural circuit regulation of prepulse inhibition of startle in the rat, current knowledge and future challenges. Psychopharmacology 156, 194–215.
- Swerdlow, N.R., Light, G.A., Cadenhead, K.S., Sprock, J., Hsieh, M.H., Braff, D.L., 2006. Startle gating deficits in a large cohort of patients with schizophrenia: relationship to medications, symptoms, neurocognition, and level of function. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 63, 1325–1335.
- Takahashi, K., Nagai, T., Kamei, H., Maeda, K., Matsuya, T., Arai, S., Mizoguchi, H., Yoneda, Y., Nabeshima, T., Takuma, K., Yamada, K., 2007. Neural circuits containing pallidotegmental GABAergic neurons are involved in the prepulse inhibition of the startle reflex in mice. Biol. Psychiatry 62, 148–157.
- Thorne, G.L., Dawson, M.E., Schell, A.M., 2005. Attention and prepulse inhibition: the effects of task-relevant, irrelevant, and no-task conditions. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 56, 121–128.
- van den Buuse, M., 2004. Prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Behav. Brain Res. 154, 331–337.
- Vanman, E.J., Boehmelt, A.H., Dawson, M.E., Schell, A.M., 1996. The varying time courses of attentional and affective modulation of the startle blink reflex. Psychophysiology 33, 691–697.
- Varty, G.B., Paulus, M.P., Braff, D.L., Geyer, M.A., 2000. Environmental enrichment and isolation rearing in the rat, effects on locomotor behavior and startle response plasticity. Biol. Psychiatry 47, 864–873.
- Volz, M., Hamm, A.O., Kirsch, P., Rey, E.-R., 2003. Temporal course of emotional startle modulation in schizophrenia patients. Int. J. Psychophysiol. 49, 123–137.
- Wall, P.M., Messier, C., 2001. The hippocampal formation—orbitomedial prefrontal cortex circuit in the attentional control of active memory. Behav. Brain Res. 127, 99–117.
- Wallach, H., Newman, E.B., Rosenzweig, M.R., 1949. The precedence effect in sound localization. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 62, 315–336.
- Wan, F.J., Swerdlow, N.R., 1997. The basolateral amygdala regulates sensorimotor gating of acoustic startle in the rat. Neuroscience 76, 715–724.
- Waters, A.M., Lipp, O.V., Spence, S., 2005. The effects of affective picture stimuli on blink modulation in adults and children. Biol. Psychol. 68, 257–281.
- Weike, A.I., Bauer, U., Hamm, A.O., 2000. Effective neuroleptic medication removes prepulse inhibition deficits in schizophrenia patients. Biol. Psychiatry 47, 61– 70.
- Weinberger, D.R., 1987. Implications of normal brain-development for the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. Arch. Gen. Psychiatry 44, 660–669.
 Weinberger, D.R., 1996. On the plausibility of "The neurodevelopmental hypoth-
- Weinberger, D.R., 1996. On the plausibility of "The neurodevelopmental hypothesis" of schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 14 (Suppl.), S1–S11.
- Weiss, I.C., Feldon, J., 2001. Environmental animal models for sensorimotor gating deficiencies in schizophrenia, a review. Psychopharmacology (Berl.) 156, 305– 326.
- Weiss, I.C., Domeney, A.M., Moreau, J., Russig, H., Feldon, J., 2001. Dissociation between the effects of pre-weaning and/or post-weaning social isolation on prepulse inhibition and latent inhibition in adult Sprague-Dawley rats. Behav. Brain Res. 121, 207–218.
- Whitaker-Azmitia, P., Zhou, F., Hobin, J., Borella, A., 2000. Isolation-fearing of rats produces deficits as adults in the serotonergic innervation of hippocampus. Peptides 21, 1755–1759.
- Wilkinson, L.S., Killcross, S.S., Humby, T., Hall, F.S., Geyer, M.A., Robbins, T.W., 1994. Social-isolation in the rat produces developmentally specidic dedicits in prepulse inhibition of the acoustic startle response without disturbing latent inhibition. Neuropsychopharmacology 10, 61–72.
- Wu, X.-H., Wang, C., Chen, J., Qu, H.-W., Li, W.-R., Wu, Y.-H., Schneider, B., Li, A.L., 2005. The effect of perceived spatial separation on informational masking of Chinese speech. Hear. Res. 199, 1–10.
- Yeomans, J.S., Lee, J., Yeomans, M.H., Steidl, S., Li, L., 2006. Midbrain pathways for prepulse inhibition and startle activation in rat. Neuroscience 142, 921–929. Yeomans, J.S., Li, L., Scott, B.W., Frankland, P.W., 2002. Tactile, acoustic and vestibular
- Yeomans, J.S., Li, L., Scott, B.W., Frankland, P.W., 2002. Tactile, acoustic and vestibular systems sum to elicit the startle reflex. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 26, 1–11.
- Zheng, J.-W., Wu, X.-H., Li, L., 2008. Metabotropic glutamate receptors subtype 5 are necessary for the enhancement of auditory evoked potentials in the lateral nucleus of the amygdala by tetanic stimulation of the auditory thalamus. Neuroscience 152, 254–264.
- Zou, D., Huang, J., Wu, X.-H., Li, L., 2007. Metabotropic glutamate subtype 5 receptors modulate fear-conditioning induced enhancement of prepulse inhibition in rats. Neuropharmacology 52, 476–486.